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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Coite- Hubbard House of 1856 is an imposing Italianate structure at the southwest
corner of High Street and Wyllis Avenue on the Wesleyan University Campus in Middletown,
Connecticut. Set on a small rise above High Street, Middletown's grand avenue, it occupies
a spacious lot 204 feet wide by 272 feet deep.

In mass the house is a square block 49 by 51 feet with a rear ell 22 by 32 feet, It
displays the Italianate style of architecture, fashionable in the mid-19th century, with
bracketed roof overhang, cupola, Renaissance Revival detail at the windows, elaborate
entrance portico, and shallow front pavilion with low pediment, The exterior walls are
covered with stucco, painted sand color.

The front portico was initially a porte-cochere over a carriageway that curved in from
the street to the house. At each front corner of the porte-cochere are three fluted columns
with foliate and volute capitals on high boxed and panelled wood pedestals. Another one of
these columns and an engaged half column are placed next to the house on either side of the
front door. The columns support a plain frieze with dentil course and a cornice that are
surmounted by a heavy balustrade,

The doorway itself has a molded round arch springing from engaged colonettes with
anthemion capitals, The two-leaf doors are set back, providing for a penelled reveal and
soffit. The half-round light under the arch is divided from the doorway by a molding that
has a dentil course., There are two sets of doors separated by a small foyer. The outside
doors have rectangular panels and the inside pair have panels with round heads.

The floor-to-ceiling windows on the first floor have two-over-two-over-two sash,

On the front of the house, which has three bays, the two first-floor windows have balconies
with balustrades that are similar to the balustrade of the porte-cochere. The windows have
heavy, flat, molded caps supported by heavy, carved consoles, those on the front carrying
ornate crestings. There is a rectangular glassed-in porch toward the rear of the south side,
added in 1923, Its original balustrade at second-floor level has been removed. On the
north side of the house there is a long, narrow veranda, again with a heavy balustrade. The
roof of the veranda is exceptional for its convex shape, for its traiangular support brackets
that incorporate an O motif, and for its sawn and pierced valence, an early example of the
type.

Second-floor windows are two-over-two with the same bracketed flat molded caps,
except for the window over the porte-cochere, which has a segmental pediment. The treat-
ment at the roof line is exceptionally well developed. The wide roof overhang has elaborate
scrolled brackets with the frieze between them panelled and defined at its lower edge by a
continuous molding., The wide overhang of the cupola roof is handled in similar fashion.

The roof itself is a low hip.

A wrought-iron fence with cast-iron posts runs along Wyllis Avenue. The fence returns
only briefly along High Street, although initially it ran across the full frontage and included
gates for the carriageway. In the back of the house a modern wing has been added at the
rear of the ell.
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The front door leads into a wide central hall that runs the full length of the main block.
A wide stairway with handsome balustrade and carved step ends is placed towaxrd the back
of the hall on the left. On the right of the hall are a reception room and a long drawing
room. On the left of the hall are a library, a sitting room, and the dining room. All of these
rooms except the dining room have open work, pierced, foliate pattern, plaster cornices,
and elaborate plaster moldings that form Adamesque ceiling patterns. The dinihg room
was re-designed in the 1920s and has little decorative trim but does have a large, rectangular
glass porch, introduced to improve the lighting,

Every room has a carved, round-arched, marble fireplace surround, with the exception
of those rooms from which the fireplaces have been removed as noted below. The fireplace
wall in the drawing room has a tall, gilded mirror over the mantel, and on the mantel a
bronze clock and two crystal candelabra. This elegant fireplace ensemble at the east end
of the long room, the tall windows, decorative plaster ceiling, and central crystal chandelier
all contribute toward making the drawing room an exceptionally handsome interior space.
The mirror, clock, candelabra, and chandelier are thought to be original furnishings in
the house, ,

The stairway from the first to the second floor is lighted by a double skylight, The
oval skylight of leaded, frosted glass visible from the stairs is in turn protected from the
weather by a skylight at roof level, the space between the two forming an interior well,

The landing at the top of the principal run of the stairs leads back to the service wing while
a further short flight of steps toward the front of the house leads from the landing up to

the principal second floor. Here a central hall provides access to four bedrooms that do
not have the decorative embellishments found on the first floor. There is a full third floor
with high ceilings, but without architectural distinction,

A full cellar shows the stone foundations and brick, load-bearing, partition walls.

The brick walls are pierced by round-arched openings.

In the 1960s the house had deteriorated to the point where serious consideration was
given to ceasing to use it as the President's House, After deliberation, however, it was
decided instead to mount a major renovation program. The renovation was carried forward
under the supervision of the university engineer. In this program the structure of the
house was securely shored up, for instance by introduction of steel beams under the first
floor, and the new wing was added at the rear, The stucco was replaced. Central air
conditioning was installed, using, in part, chimney stacks for duct conduits. This arrange-
ment led to the removal of three fireplaces from the house, including the one in the dining
room, The interior trim was also painted white at this time.
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Addendum

The new wing added at the rear in 1967 was a one story addi-
tion running south from the rear (west) of the original ell. It has
a low hipped roof, windows similar in scale and frequency to those of
the original house, and is covered with the same stucco. The interior
provides for a two car garage, two bedrooms, a sitting room, and a
bath. The overall effect is to provide additional space to the house
in a relatively unobtrusive manner. The work was carried out as part
of the general $70,000 program of renovations in 1967 under the super-
vision of the University engineer.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The exquisite decorative detail and fine proportions of the Coite-Hubbard House, both
inside and out, make it an outstanding example of the Italianate style that was fashionable in
the mid- 19th century. The house today dominates the neighborhood from its fine site as it
did a century and a quarter ago, an imposing, skillfully executed, and pretentious example of
the building arts of mid-19th century.

The site has historic interest pre-dating the Coite-Hubbard House because Simeon North's
house was here, North was the first official pistol maker to the United States and is credited
with developing the concept of interchangeable parts simultaneously with Eli Whitney,

North's heirs sold the house and land to Gabriel W. Coite in 1855 (Middletown Land
Records, volume 83, page 38). North's house presumably was either demolished or moved
to make way for Coite's new structure. Gabriel W. Coite was born in 1810 in Philadelphia,

In 1831 he entered into partnership with his father in an unspecified business in New York,
and in 1853, at the age of 43, retired to Middletown. In 1860 he was elected State Senator
and in 1862 State Treasurer, an office he held for four terms. Coite is listed in the Hartford
city directories for the years 1862 through 1867 and then drops from sight,

The identity of the architect Coite engaged in 1856 for his new house is unknown. Effort
has been made to attribute the house to Henry Austin (1804-1891) of New Haven, but most of
Austin's work was in the Classic and Gothic Revival styles. An Italianate design that is
attributed to Austin is the 1859 Morse- Libby House in Portland, Maine, but that is brownstone
and two stories high, quite different from the three- story, stucco house designed for Coite by
an as yet unidentified architect.

In 1863 Coite sold his Middletown home, only seven years after building it, to Mrs. Jane
Miles Hubbard (MLR 94/172), widow of Samuel D. Hubbard, Her husband, a prominent member
of an old, land-owning, Middletown family, had been a Congressman and Postmaster General
in President Fillmore's cabinet, He built the long Mansion House Block on Main Street.,

' ‘ Mrs, Hubbard lived
alone with her servants in the big house. Stories are told about her comings and goings; she
was a force and personality in the town. The drawing room mantel mirror, clock, candelabra,
and the chandelier are known to have been in the house when she lived there, and may have
been there when she arrived.

The property passed from the heirs of Mrs. Hubbard to Wesleyan University, On April
15, 1904, the Wesleyan Board of Trustees voted to purchase the house and land for $30, 000.
The Hubbard heirs then established a scholarship fund in the amount of $10, 000 in honor of
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Samuel D. Hubbard. Title was transferred that year (MLR 134/294) and the house has been
the residence of the president of the university ever since.

The architect Henry Bacon (1866-1924), best known for designing the Lincoln Memorial
in Washington D. C., made his influence felt on the house in 1923, Bacon had several
commissions in Connecticut, including the railroad station in Naugatuck and the General
Hospital and Citizens' and Manufacturers' National Bank in Waterbury, At Wesleyan he
did a campus plan, astronomical observatory, dormitories, and other buildings., In the
President's House Bacon re-designed the dining room, adding a large rectangular glazed
porch, presumably to improve the lighting of this otherwise rather dark room. Contem-
porary photos show that on the top of the porch he placed a balustrade similar to the one
on the porte-cochere. The balustrade on the dining room porch has been removed.

The house existed for almost 70 years without change until Bacon altered the south
facade in 1923, The subsequent removal of the balustrade from Bacon's porch destroyed
his effort to tie in his design with the overall design of the house. The 1960s program did
more severe damage to the integrity of the house by removal of three fireplaces and by
painting the interior white, At least the painting is reversible. These negative elements
are minor when compared to the strength of the features that do remain, including the
fine basic proportions, and excellence of decorative detail both inside and out, The Coite-
Hubbard House continues to be an important architectural asset to the university, town,
and state.
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